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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

x

iWMAR-S (3 5:53

:

OPINION & ORDER

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
- against INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF
TEAMSTERS, CHAUFFEURS,
WAREHOUSEMEN A N D HELPERS OF
AMERICA, AFL-CIO, et al..

:

Defendants.

(DNE)

X

IN RE:
APPLICATION XCIX OF THE
INDEPENDENT ADMINISTRATOR
APPEARANCES:

88 Civ. 4486

X

CHARLES M. CARBERRY, Investigations Officer of the
International Brotherhood of Teamsters, (Jeffrey S.
Tolk, of counsel);
ROGER S. HAYES, United States Attorney for the
Southern District of New York, (Christine H. Chung,
Assistant United States Attorney, of counsel) for
the United States;
BAPTISTE & WILDER, P.C., Washington, D.C.
M. Baptiste, of counsel) for Respondents.

(Robert

EDELSTEIN. District Judge:
This
action

opinion

commenced

"Government")
Teamsters

emanates
by

the

plaintiff

against

(the

from

"IBT"

United

defendants
or

the

voluntary

settlement

States

of

International

"Union")

and

the

of

America

Brotherhood
IBT's

an

(the
of

General

Executive Board (the "GEB") embodied in the voluntary consent order
entered March 14, 1989
provides

for

three

(the "Consent Decree").

Court-appointed
1

officials:

The Consent Decree
the

Independent

Administrator to oversee the Consent Decree's remedial provisions,
the

Investigations

Officer

to bring

charges

against

corrupt

IBT

members, and the Election Officer to oversee the electoral process
that culminated

in the 1991 election

The goal of the Consent

Decree

for International

Officers.

is to rid the IBT of the

hideous

influence of organized crime through the election and disciplinary
provisions.
Application XCIX presents for this Court's review the decision
of the Independent Administrator
Officer

had

President

proven

of

IBT

charges

Local

finding that the

filed

868

and

against

917;

John

Harold

Investigations
T.

Burke,

Wolchok,

Jr.,

Secretary-

Treasurer of IBT Local 868 and 917; Mario Abrego, Vice President of
IBT Local 917 and Trustee of IBT Local 868;
of IBT Local

917 and business

Robert Ottman, Trustee

agent of IBT Local

868;

Langston

McKay, Recording Secretary of IBT Local 917 and business agent for
Local 868;
Brechner,

Walter Cahill, Trustee of IBT Local 868 and 917;
Vice

President

of IBT Local

868;

and,

Walter

Saul

Simmons,

Trustee of Local 917 and business agent for Local 868 J

BACKGROUND

Respondents

are members

or

former members

Boards of IBT Locals 868 and 917.

of

the

Executive

Local 917 is based in New York

City and represents gasoline station and parking garage attendants,
T John T. Burke, Jr., Harold Wolchok, Mario Abrego, Robert
Ottman, Langston McKay, Walter Cahill, Saul Brechner, and Walter
Simmons are hereinafter referred to collectively as "Respondents."

2

automobile

mechanics,

cleaning

service

personnel

and

staff

employees of a charitable organization, the United Jewish Appeal.
Local 868 is headquartered in Local 917's New York offices, and was
organized by Local 917 officers to represent automobile dealership
employees and liquor truck drivers.
The Investigations Officer alleged that Respondents breached
their fiduciary duties to the members of IBT Locals 868 and 917 in
violation of Article II, Section 2(a) and Article XIX, Section 6(b)
of the IBT Constitution^ by executing a scheme, under the guise of
an

associate

membership

program,

to

"Associate Membership Program Charge").

enrich

themselves

(the

Article II, Section

is the IBT membership oath, which provides

2(a)

in relevant part

that

every IBT member shall "conduct himself or herself in a manner so
as not to bring

reproach upon the Union."

Article XIX,

Section

6(b) is a non-exhaustive list of disciplinary charges that may be
filed against

IBT members.

membership oath.

One such charge

See Article XIX,

is violating the

IBT

§6(b)(2).

In addition to these charges, the Investigations Officer filed
two additional charges against Messrs. Burke and Wolchok.
Mr.

Burke

and

Mr.

Wolchok

were

charged

with

First,

breaching

their

fiduciary duties to the Union and violating 29 U.S.C. § 503(a)^ in
connection with an illegal loan to Mr. Burke from Local 917

2
All references herein are to
under which Respondents were charged.

the

1986

IBT

(the

Constitution

3
Title 29, United States Code, Section 503(a) prohibits
loans from labor organizations to officers or employees of the
organization that are in excess of $2,000.

3

"Loan

Charge").

with breaching

Second,
their

Mr.

Burke

and Mr. Wolchok were

fiduciary duties to the Unic

and

charged

violating

Article XIX, Section 6(b)(3) of the IBT Constitution, by embezzling
more than $6,000 of Local 917's funds via a retroactive increase of
Mr.

Burke's

Wolchok

salary

was

violation

of

6(b)^ of the
information

(the

"Embezzlement

charged

with

Article

II,

IBT

bringing
Section

Constitution

by

Charge").

reproach

2(a)

and

submitting

Finally,

upon

the

Article

XIX,

false

and

Mr.

IBT

in

Section

dishonest

in connection with an IBT audit of Local 917's

books

(the "Audit Charge").
Pursuant

to

paragraph

F.12(C)

of

the

Consent

Decree,

the

Independent Administrator must decide disciplinary hearings using
a "just cause" standard.
of

establishing

just

The Investigations Officer has the burden

cause

by

a preponderance

of

the

December 27, 1990 Opinion & Order, 754 F. Supp. 333, 337
1990).

After

conducting

a

hearing

at

which

evidence.
(S.D.N.Y.

Respondents

were

represented by counsel, and receiving pre- and post-hearing briefs,
the Independent Administrator issued a thirty-page decision.

The

Independent Administrator found that the Investigations Officer had
sustained

his

burden

of

proving

the

charges

filed

against

Respondents.
As a penalty for this conduct, the Independent

Administrator

suspended Respondents from the IBT, and barred them from receiving

^ Article X, Section 10, of the IBT Constitution authorizes
the General Secretary-Treasurer of the IBT to audit the books of
Local Unions.
Interference with such an audit is a basis for
discipline under Article XIX.
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compensation
years.

In

from any IBT-affiliated
addition,

the

source,

Independent

for a period

Administrator

of

disqualified

Respondents from holding any IBT-affiliated Union positions,
as Executive Board or Trustee positions,
following

the

expiration

of

their

for two additional

suspension

two

from

such
years

the

IBT.

Furthermore, the Independent Administrator exercised his authority
to

impose

sanctions

upon

Respondents'

employee

benefits.

December 28, 1990 Memorandum & Order, 753 F. Supp. 1181

See

(S.D.N.Y.

1990), aff'd, 941 F.2d 1292 (2d Cir.), cert, denied. 112 S. Ct. 76
(1991).

The Independent Administrator prohibited

the IBT or any

affiliate from contributing funds to sustain benefits on behalf of
Respondents

during

their

period

of

suspension.

Independent Administrator ordered that the IBT and
entities

refrain

Respondents

from

contributing

in connection

with

the

to

legal

instant

Finally,

IBT-affiliated

fees

incurred

disciplinary

See United States v. Local 1804-1. 732 F. Supp. 434, 437
1990).

the

by

action.
(S.D.N.Y.

The Independent Administrator stayed his decision pending

this Court's

review.

Respondents

appeal

the

This

Court

Administrator.

decision
finds

of

the

Independent

that

the

Independent

Administrator's determination that the Investigations Officer had
proven the charges against Respondents
evidence,
devoid

and

that

of merit.

Respondents'
Furthermore,

imposed

by

the

Independent

Wolchok

is

fully

supported

is fully supported by

arguments

the Court

Administrator
by

the

5

to

the

contrary

finds that
on

evidence.

Mr.

the

the
are-

penalty

Burke

and

Mr.

However,

for

the

reasons discussed below, see infra at 21-24, the penalty imposed on
Messrs.

Abrego,

vacated

and

Ottman

McKay,

remanded

reconsideration.

to

Cahill,

the

Accordingly,

Brechner

Independent
the

opinion

arid Simmons

Administrator
of

the

is
for

Independent

Administrator is affirmed in part and vacated in part.

DISCUSSION

In reviewing decisions of the Independent Administrator, it is
well

settled

that

the

findings

of the

"are entitled to great deference."

Independent

Administrator

United States v. IBT. 905 F.2d

610, 616 (2d Cir. 1990), aff'a March 13, 1990 Opinion & Order, 743
F.

Supp.

155

(S.D.N.Y.

1990).

This

Court

will

overturn

the

findings of the Independent Administrator when it determines that
they

are,

on

capricious."
3994

the

basis

of

all

the

evidence,

"arbitrary

or

United States v. IBT, No. 91-6280, slip op., at 3987,

(2d Cir. May 27, 1992); August 27, 1990 Opinion & Order,

745

F. Supp. 908, 911 (S.D.N.Y. 1990), aff'd. 941 F.2d 1292

(2d Cir.),

cert,

Opinion

denied.

112

S.

Ct.

76

Order, 743 F. Supp. 155, 165
(2d Cir. 1990); see July 14

(1991);

March

13,

1990

&

(S.D.N.Y. 1990), aff'd. 905 F.2d 610
1992 Opinion & Order, slip op., at 10-

12 (S.D.N.Y. 1992); July 13, 1992 Opinion & Order, slip op., at 1012 (S.D.N.Y. 1992); July 9, 1992 Opinion & Order, slip op., at 6-8
(S.D.N.Y. 1992); May 15, 1992 Opinion & Order, slip pp.. at 13-14
(S.D.N.Y. 1992); April 27, 1992 Memorandum & Order, slip op., at 8 9 (S.D.N.Y. 1992); February 11, 1992 Memorandum & Order, slip op.,

6

at 9 (S.D.N.Y

1992);

January 20, 1992 Memorandum

& Order, 782 F.

Supp. 256, 259 (S.D.N.Y 1992); January 16, 1992 Memorandum & Order,
slip

op.,

at

6-7

(S.D.N.Y.

1992); November

8,

1991 Memorandum

&

Order, slip op., at 4-5 (S.D.N.Y 1991); October 29, 1991 Opinion &
Order,
801

776 F. Supp.

144,

152-53

(S.D.N.Y.

1991), aff'd. 954

(2d Cir. 1992), cert, denied. 60 U.S.L.W. 3746

(U.S. June 22,

1992); October 25, 1991, Order, slip op., at 4-5 (S.D.N.Y.
October

24,

1991

Memorandum

&

Order,

777

F.

F.2d

Supp.

1991);

1133,

1136

(S.D.N.Y 1991); October 16, 1991 Memorandum & Order, 777 F. Supp.
1130,

1132

(S.D.N.Y.

1991),

aff'd.

No. 91-6280

(2d Cir. May

27,

1992); October 11, 1991 Memorandum & Order, 777 F. Supp. 1127, 1128
(S.D.N.Y 1991), aff'd. No. 91-6292, unpublished slip, op. (2d Cir.
Jan. 28, 1992); October 9, 1991 Memorandum
1123,

1125

(S.D.N.Y.

1991); August

14,

& Order,

777 F. Supp.

1991 Memorandum

& Order,

slip pp., at 4 (S.D.N.Y. 1991); July 31, 1991 Memorandum & Order,
slip pp.. at 3-4

(S.D.N.Y. 1991), aff'd. No. 91-6200,

unpublished

slip op. (2d Cir. Jan. 31, 1992); July 18, 1991 Memorandum & Order,
slip op., at 3-4
slip pp.,

(S.D.N.Y. 1991), aff'd. Np. 91-6198,

unpublished

(2d Cir. Jan. 31, 1992); July 16, 1991 Opinion & Order,

slip pp.. at 3-4 (S.D.N.Y. 1991); June 6, 1991 Opinipn & Order, 775
F. Supp. 90, 93
1278

(S.D.N.Y. 1991), aff'd in relevant part. 948 F.2d

(2d Cir. 1991); May 13, 1991 Memprandum & Order, 764 F. Supp.

817, 820-21 (S.D.N.Y. 1991); May 9, 1991 Memorandum & Order, 764 F.
Supp.

797,

800

(S.D.N.Y.

1991)

aff'd.

Np.

91-6144,

unpublished

slip, pp. (2d Cir. Jan. 28, 1992); May 6, 1991 Opinion & Order, 764
F. Supp. 787, 789

(S.D.N.Y.), aff'd. 940 F.2d 648 (2d Cir.), cert.

denied.

112 S. Ct. 76

(1991); December 27,

754 F. Supp. 333, 337

1990 Opinion

& Order,

(S.D.N.Y. 1990); September 18, 1990 Opinion

& Order, 745 F. Supp. 189, 191-92 (S.D.N.Y. 1990); January 17, 1990
Opinion & Order,
(2d Cir.

728 F. Supp. 1032,

1045-57, aff'd. 907 F.2d

1990).

I.

The Associate Membership Program

The

Independent

Respondents

Administrator

breached

membership

and

their

brought

found

fiduciary

reproach

Charge

that

duties

upon

the

each

to

IBT

of

the

by

members

Local

917

collective

of both

Health

Local

& Welfare

bargaining

917

and

Fund

Local

(the

engaging

agreements.

868 participate

"Fund")

In

1986,

pursuant
Mr.

the

general

transactions adverse to the interests of the Union rank and
The

277

file.
in

to

Burke

in

the

their

and

Mr.

Wolchok became aware that several employers of Union members were
interested

in obtaining

low-cost health

insurance

from the

Union

for employees who were not members of collective bargaining units.
Thereafter, Respondents developed an "associate m e m b e r s h ^ " program
(the

"Program")

collective
obtain

that

bargaining

coverage

for

allowed

companies

agreements

with

non-Union

that

Local

employees

917

were

parties

or Local

through

to

868

the

to

Fund.

Associate members were not required to join the Union in order to
enroll

in

the

Program

and

indeed

many

associate

members

were

ineligible for Union membership.
In administering the associate membership program, Respondents

8

dealt with employers of Local members rather than with persons to
be

covered

by

the

Fund.

Pursuant

to the

terms

of

the

Program,

Respondents negotiated with employers and required, as a condition
to

participation

personnel

in

the

participate.

Program,

Locals

recruited.

based

on

the

all

eligible

Employers were charged

recruiting associate members.
the

that

with

non-Union

the

task

of

Employers then paid a service fee to

number

of

associate

members

that

The service fees for associate membership ranged

they
from

$10 to $12 per member.
The Independent Administrator found that Respondents

"failed

to rebut the central conclusion urged by the Investigations Officer
—

that the associate membership program was conceived solely as a

means to enrich the individual Respondents."
17.

Ind. Admin. Dec, at

Finding that Respondents did not use funds generated by

the

associate membership program to benefit the Locals, see id. at 18,
the Independent Administrator determined

that

the Respondents abused their trusted positions as Union
officers to further a scheme which was designed with only one
purpose in mind — to further their own individual financial
interest.
As such, the Respondents brought 'reproach upon
the Union.' IBT Constitution (1986), Article II, Sec. 2(a);
Article XIX, Sec. 6.
Id.
Respondents dispute the Independent Administrator's findings,
arguing that Union members benefitted from the Program because the
Program

helped

publicize

the

benefits

of

Union

membership,

increased Union revenues, and increased income to the Fund

itself.

See Respondents' Objections to Application XCIX of the Independent
Administrator

("Respondents' Objections"),

9

at 8, 10.

Respondents

deny that the Program was designed
and

attribute

report

the

Program's

discussing

States.
of

the

the

Program

were

of

to

a February

organized

enrichment,
1985

labor

in

AFL-CIO

the

United

Finally, Respondents argue that the terms

reviewed

counsel to the Locals.
Respondents'

genesis

decline

See id. at 5-9.

for their personal

and

approved

by

Mr.

Irving

Bush,

See id. at 11, 15.

objections

to

the decision

Administrator are without merit.

of

the

Independent

The evidence clearly supports the

Independent Administrator's finding that Respondents conceived and
implemented

the

economic gain.
duties

to

the

associate

membership

program

for

their

In so doing, Respondents breached their
members

of

reproach upon the IBT.

Local

868

and

Local

917

personal
fiduciary

and

brought

While the Independent Administrator

found

that the Program may have offered some incidental benefit to the
Locals, the evidence clearly shows that virtually all of the funds
generated by this Program were

funnelled

directly to

Respondents

rather than to the coffers of Locals 868 and 917.
Evidence abounds of such an improper purpose and
effect.

The records

of Locals

868 and

correlation between the receipt
salary

levels:

proportion
Program.

to
For

Respondents'
the

service

example,

in

917 detail

of service

salaries
fees
1987,

fees and

increased

collected
Locals

a

as

868

deleterious
significant
Respondents'

in almost
a

and

result
917

$127,316.00 more in service fees than they had in 1986.

direct
of

the

collected
In 1987

Respondents paid themselves $128,769.00 more in salaries than they
had received in 1986.

Moreover, wh'le Mr. Burke received a total

10

salary of $77,420.00

from the Locals in 1985;

in 1987, the

first

full year in which service fees were collected, Mr. Burke's total
salary increased to

$115,959.00.

The record further shows that Respondents' efforts on behalf
of

the

associate

membership

opportunity for personal gain.

program

were

motivated

by

the

For example, it was adduced in the

course of hearings before the Independent Administrator that at a
June 29, 1988 meeting of the Local 868 Executive Board, Mr. Wolchok
argued

that,

unless

associate

membership

fees

continued

to

increase, Respondents would be unable to get paid the salaries that
they

wanted.

Specifically,

Respondents'

salaries

Mr.

that,

Wolchok

"[a]s

stated

always,

the

in

reference

only

resolve this issue is to increase our organizing

868 Executive

deny

that

they

Board,

June

actively

29.

we

e.g..

the

Independent

Minutes

of

1988.

Although

Respondents

new

associate

membership

solicited

Administrator

Local

868

in

See Minutes of

accounts, see Respondents' Objections at 14, the evidence
before

can

efforts both

the traditional mechanism and in associate groups."
Local

way

to

refutes

Executive

Board.

adduced

this denial.
November

See.

16.

1988

(stating that "all agents should redouble their efforts to bring in
new

accounts").
Respondents'

Locals.

thus

breached

An insidious by-product

Respondents

financially

were,

by

the

terms

fiduciary

duties

of the Program was that

dependent

continuance with the Program.
Program

their

on

employers'

the

11

Program,

free

the

it made

discretionary

Employers that participated
of

to

to

in the

terminate

participation

at any time.

their artificially

In order for Respondents to maintain

high salaries,

they needed to ensure that

Program continued to generate fees.
conflict

between

the

interests

the

This created an impermissible

of

the

general

Respondents' personal financial interests.

membership

and

While Respondents,

as

Executive Board members, were required to act solely on behalf of
the membership when dealing with employers, Respondents'

reliance

on the service fees generated by the Program made them beholden to
those employers with whom they negotiated.

By callously abdicating

their responsibilities in order to achieve personal economic gain,
Respondents placed themselves in a position where their
could be adverse to those of the general membership.
thus crafted a scheme —

interests

Respondents

the associate membership program —

that

allowed them to collect money for their personal economic benefit
without regard to the deleterious effect such action might have on
their representation

of the general membership.

The

Independent

Administrator's finding that the Investigations Officer had proven
the

Associate

Membership

Program

Charge

against

Respondents

is

fully supported by the evidence.

II.

The Loan Charge and the Audit

Charge

On November 10, 1988, Mr. Burke received his November salary
from Local 917 in the amount of $4,309.55.
Burke

received

a

second

check

in the

amount

On the same day, Mr.
of

$4,309.55

"advance" on his December 1988 salary and allowance.

12

as

an

In December,

however, Mr. Burke was paid his full salary and allowance in spite
of the earlier "advance."
1988 payment

Local 917's books describe the December

as an "advance" on Mr. Burke's January

1989

salary.

This pattern was repeated, and the loan rolled over, such that Mr.
Burke remained

indebted to Local 917 for the sum of

the equivalent of one month's salary and advance —
1989.

This

unsecured,

interest-free

$4,309.55

—

u n t i l December

indebtedness

was

not

memorialized by a promissory note or loan agreement.
In

February

1989,

an

IBT

auditor,

Mr.

John

Hartigan,

questioned Local 917 about Mr. Burke's outstanding salary advance.
Initially,
"mistake"
asked

Respondent
and

Mr.

Ottman

that Mr.

Ottman

to

informed

Burke had

verify

the auditor

repaid

this

the

that

loan.

information.

Mr.

repaid

the

advance

outstanding.

the

day

after

he

did

not

credit

this

On March
IBT,

Weldon

31,

1989,

L. Mathis,

then
wrote

advance had been repaid.
Wolchok for response.
owe money
"rolled

was

notified

testimony,

that this repayment was "illusory."

to

over"

Local
from

informed

that

The

it

was

Independent

however,

and

found

See Ind. Admin. Dec, at 25.

General
Mr.

and

Mr.

Mr. Burke claims that he

See Respondents' Obiections at 18.

Administrator

a

Hartigan

Thereafter,

Ottman discovered that the loan remained outstanding
Mr. Hartigan and Mr. Burke of this fact.

it was

Secretary-Treasurer

Burke

to

question

Mr. Burke forwarded

this

of

the

whether

the

letter to Mr.

Mr. Wolchok knew that Mr. B u r k e continued to

917

because

month

to

the

month.

November

1988

loan

Nevertheless,

Mr.

had

been

Wolchok

transmitted a letter, dated April 12, 1989, to the I B T stating that

13

"this

oversight

was

paid

in

full

on

February

13,

1989."

See

Respondents' Objections at 44.
With regard to the Loan Charge, the Independent Administrator
found that the Investigations Officer had proven that Messrs. Burke
and

Wolchok

violated

29

U.S.C.

fiduciary duties to the Union.
29,

United

States

Code,

§

503(a)

breached

their

See Ind. Admin. Dec, at 23.

Title

Section

and

503(a)

prohibits

labor

organizations from directly or indirectly making loans in excess of
$2,000.00
Burke

to

officers

and Mr.

determination,
raised

or

Wolchok
and

employees

object

have

of

to the

reiterated

such

organizations.

Independent
before

this

Administrator's
Court

in front of the Independent Administrator.

Mr.

arguments

Messrs.

Burke

and Wolchok do not contest that Mr. Burke accepted salary advances
from Local 917 in excess of $2,000.00, that Mr. Burke owed this sum
to the Local from November 1988 through December 1989, or that both
Mr. Burke and Mr. Wolchok signed the checks representing the salary
advance.

See Ind. Admin. Dec, at 19.

Messrs. Burke and Wolchok,

however, contend that the Independent Administrator's findings with
regard to the Loan Charge are arbitrary and capricious because Mr.
Burke

and

constituted

Mr.
a

Wolchok
loan,

did

relied

not

realize

on

the

that

advice

of

a

salary

counsel

advance
prior

to

engaging in the allegedly offensive conduct, and their violation,
if any, was not willful.

These objections are without

merit.

It is clear that a salary advance constitutes a loan
the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §503(a).

As the Independent Administrator

stated, Black's Law Dictionary defines a loan as:

14

within

Delivery by one party to and receipt by another
party of a sum of money, upon agreement, express
implied, to repay it with or without interest.
Ind.

Admin.

1991)).

Dec, at

20

(quoting

Black's Law Dictionary

or
(6th

The Independent Administrator found that "[hjere,

Ed.

monies

were delivered by the Local to Burke, who received and accepted the
money,

with,

Local."

at

a minimum,

Id. at 20.

an

implicit

agreement

to

repay

the

The Independent Administrator therefore found

that Mr. Burke had accepted a loan in excess of $2,000.00 from the
Local.

See

id.

This

conclusion

is

clearly

supported

by

the

evidence.
Thus, the only questions that remain are whether Messrs. Burke
and

Wolchok

are

relieved

of

liability

under

29

U.S.C.

§503(a)

because they allegedly did not know they were violating a federal
statute or because they allegedly
with the advice of counsel.
not

have

contained

specifically

in

U.S.C.

485,

489

(2d

Cir.

of

§503(a),

knowledge of the statute.

in

accordance

First, Mr. Burke and Mr. Wolchok need

known
29

sought and acted

the

terms

because

of

they

the

prohibition

are

charged

See United States v. Scanio,

1990).^

As

the

Independent

900 F.2d

Administrator

correctly stated, "[t]he willfulness of Respondents' conduct
not

in whether

they willfully

violated

the

statute,

but

lies

whether

they willfully engaged in conduct that violated the statute."
Admin. Dec, at 21.

with

Ind.

The record makes clear that Messrs. Burke and

s indeed, in light of Mr. Wolchok's and Mr. Burke's extensive
experience, the Independent Administrator did not credit their
testimony that they did not realize that the advance was a loan or
their claim that they were unaware of the prohibition contained in
29 U.S.C. § 503(a).
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Wolchok

willfully

engaged

in conduct

that violated

the

statute.

Therefore, the Independent Administrator's finding that Mr. Burke
and Mr. Wolchok
willfully

breached

engaging

their

fiduciary

duties

in conduct that violated

to the Union

29 U.S.C.

§503(a)

by
is

neither arbitrary or capricious.
Second, reliance on the advice of counsel does not negate the
element of intent unless such reliance is reasonable.

In order for

reliance to be reasonable, Mr. Burke and Mr. Wolchok were required,
at a minimum, to inform counsel of all information necessary
counsel to provide sound, informed advice.
and Mr. Wolchok

admit that

amount

loan

of

the

or

of

they

Respondents' Objections at 44.
failed

to

counsel
cannot

to

inform

assess

escape

counsel.
1181,

fully

the

counsel
legality

liability

by

Nevertheless, Mr. Burke

failed to

the

past

for

inform

practices

counsel

of

of

Local.

the

the

Because Messrs. Burke and Wolchok
of material
of

the

claiming

facts

loan

to

reliance

necessary

Mr.
on

Burke,

the

for
they

advice

of

See United States v. Beech-Nut Nutrition Corp.. 871 F.2d

1194

(2d

Cir.

1989),

cert,

denied.

493

U.S.

933

(1989).

Therefore, the Independent Administrator's determination that the
Investigations Officer had proven the Loan Charge against Mr. Burke
and Mr. Wolchok is supported by the weight of the

evidence.

Finally, the Independent Administrator found that Mr. Wolchok
breached his fiduciary duty to the Union and brought reproach upon
the

IBT by misrepresenting

to

an

IBT

auditor

the

salary advance that had been made to Mr. Burke.
Dec,

at

24-25.

Article

X,

Section

16

10,

of

the

status

of

the

See Ind. Admin.
IBT

Constitution

authorizes the General Secretary-Treasurer of the IBT to audit the
books of Local Unions.
an audit

a basis

This Article makes interference with

for discipline

under Article

XIX.

In

such

February

1989, following an audit conducted pursuant to Article X of the IBT
Constitution, Mr. Wolchok informed the General
that Mr. Burke's advance was "paid

Secretary-Treasurer

in full" in spite of the

fact

that he knew that the advance had been rolled over from month to
month.

Accordingly, the Independent Administrator found that "the

Investigations Officer has met his burden of just cause in proving
that

Respondent

misrepresent

Wolchok

the

facts" concerning

Admin. Dec, at 25.
this

Court

that

findings.

willfully

intentionally

the loan to Mr.

sought

Burke.

to
Ind.

Respondents have submitted no new evidence to

casts

Indeed,

or

doubt

on

the

Independent

Respondents

are

unable

Administrator's

to

refute

that

Mr.

Wolchok intentionally misrepresented to the IBT the status of Mr.
Burke's loan or that he knew such statements were false at the time
that

they

were

made.

As

such,

the

Independent

Administrator's

determination that the Investigations Officer had proven the Audit
Charge is not arbitrary or capricious.

III. The Embezzlement

Charge

In or around November 15, 1989, Messrs. Burke and Wolchok, in
their

capacity

as members

of

the

Executive

Board

of

Local

917,

caused Local 917 to give Mr. Burke a salary increase of $6,019.00,
retroactive

to

January

1,

1989.

See

Minutes

of

the

Local

917

Executive

Board. November

15, 1989.

raise was designed

so that

[Burke]

the

owed

Respondents'
additional

to

for

"the amount equal[ed] the amount

that

at

the

been fully compensated

this

Local

Objections

work

Respondents admit that

Union

20.

on

the

Indeed,

retroactive

Mr.

salary
Burke

payment,

and

advance."

performed

had

no

previously

for the period that it covered.

The Investigations Officer alleged that the retroactive salary
increase
U.S.C.

was
§

unauthorized

501(c)

and

IBT

and

fraudulent

Constitution

and

thus

Article

violated

XIX,

29

§6(b)(3).

Article XIX of the IBT Constitution prohibits the embezzlement
conversion of Union funds.

or

Respondents assert that Mr. Burke and

Mr. Wolchok revealed to the Executive Board of Local 917 that the
purpose

of

the

retroactive

indebtedness to the Local.

raise

was

to

satisfy

Mr.

Burke's

The Independent Administrator, however,

did not find this claim credible and determined that Mr. Burke and
Mr. Wolchok

did

not

reveal this purpose

to the Executive

Thus, the Independent Administrator found that the
Officer had

Investigations

"proven by a fair preponderance of the evidence

Respondents Burke and Wolchok acted with the requisite
intent to deprive Local 917 of its funds."
Mr.

Board.

Burke

and

Mr. Wolchok

challenge

that

fraudulent

Ind. Admin. Dec, at 24.
the

sufficiency

evidence supporting the Independent Administrator's

of

the

determination

that they had not disclosed to the Executive Board of Local 917 the
true purpose of the retroactive salary increase.
determination
Administrator:

is

well

within

the

province

of

However, such a
the

Independent

The Independent Administrator is best situated to

18

assess

the credibility

of witnesses

as well

accorded evidence adduced at a hearing.
No.

92-6068,

slip

pp.,

at

42

(2d

as the weight

to

be

See United States v. IBT.

Cir.

Nov.

2,

1992).

After

carefully reviewing the evidence before the Court, as well as the
transcript

of

the

hearing

conducted

by

the

Independent

Administrator, this Court finds that the evidence strongly supports
the Independent Administrator's decision that Messrs. Wolchok and
Burke failed to inform the Executive Board of Local 917 as to the
true

purpose

Messrs.

of

Burke

the

and

retroactive

Wolchok

acted

salary
with

increase.

fraudulent

Therefore,

intent

and

the

retroactive salary advance was prohibited by the IBT Constitution.
See IBT Constitution Article XIX, § 6(b)(3); see also 29 U.S.C. §
501(c).

The

Independent

Administrator's

determination

that

Investigations Officer had shown just cause to find that
Burke

and Wolchok

deprive

Local

acted with the

917

of

its

requisite

funds,

and

had

fraudulent
therefore

the

Messrs.

intent
proven

to
the

Embezzlement Charge, was not arbitrary or capricious.

IV. The

Penalty

Respondents
Independent

contend

Administrator

that
—

the

a two

penalty

year

imposed

suspension

from

by

the

the

IBT

followed by a two-year ban on holding IBT affiliated positions such
as

Executive

capricious.
severe,"

see

Board

or

Trustee

positions

—

is

Respondents argue that this penalty
Respondents

Objections

19

at

46,

48,

arbitrary
is

and

"excessively

and

that

the

Independent

Administrator

failed

to

consider

the

individual

Respondents'

level of participation in the offenses charged.

Id.

at 48.

a. The Penalties Imposed on Respondents Burke and Wolchok

Mr. Burke's and Mr. Wolchok's argument, to the extent that it
is

based

on

the

without merit.

severity

of

the

sanctions

imposed,

is

wholly

The Independent Administrator carefully considered

Mr. Burke's and Mr. Wolchok's participation in the charged offense
as well as factors in mitigation
Dec,

at

26-29.

Indeed,

in

Administrator specifically

of punishment.

imposing

See Ind. Admin.

sanctions,

the

Independent

"acknowledge[d] the contributions

that

[Mr. Burke and Mr. Wolchok] have made to . . . both Local 917 and
Local 868."
the

Id. at 26.

sanctions

imposed

Administrator's
States
1992)

v.

Mr. Burke's and Mr. Wolchok's belief that
are

decision

IBT,

No.

"harsh" does not make
arbitrary

92-6140,

slip

or

op.,

the

capricious.
at 490

Independent
See

(2d Cir.

(refusing to overturn Independent Administrator's

United

Dec.

22,

decision,

even though court itself may have imposed a less severe sanction).
As the Second Circuit has stated,
administrator —
the

witnesses

basis
either
6068,

for

fixed

finding

slip op.,

independent

himself a former federal district judge —

and

arbitrary

"[t]he experienced

the

a penalty.
penalty

chosen

or capricious."
at

42

(2d Cir.

On

this
by

United
Nov.

20

2,

record

the

is no

administrator

States v.
1992).

there

heard

The

IBT. No.

was
92-

Independent

Administrator
light

of

carefully

the

wrongdoing

considered

seriousness

of

the

evidence

Messrs.

and their patent disregard

presented.

Burke's

and

In

Wolchok's

of their fiduciary

duties,

the penalty fixed by the Independent Administrator was appropriate
and was not arbitrary or capricious.

b.

The Penalties Imposed on Respondents Mario Abreao. Robert
Ottman. Lanaston McKay, Walter Cahill. Saul Brechner, and
Walter Simmons

A

unique

penalties

consideration

imposed

by

the

is

Independent

Abrego, Ottman, McKay,

Cahill,

Court

Circuit

and

the

Second

presented

regard

Administrator

Brechner,
have

with

on

and Simmons.

held

that

the

to

the

Messrs.

Both

this

Independent

Administrator, who presides over disciplinary hearings pursuant to
the

Consent

penalty

Decree,

to be

is

imposed

Decree's disciplinary
92-6068,

slip op.,

deference.

best
upon

situated

IBT members

provisions.

at 41.

See United

to

determine

who

See United

In doing

States v.

and

violate

the

92-6140,

former federal district
best

equipped

to

Consent
No.

to great

slip op.,

490; United States v. IBT, No. 92-6068, slip op., at 42.
a matter of critical importance.

the

States v. IBT.

so, he is entitled

IBT. No.

fix

This is

The Independent Administrator, a

judge, conducts the hearings and thus

evaluate

at

the

demeanor,

credibility

ultimately, the culpability, of those who appear before him.

is

and,
See

id.; Feb. 9. 1993 Opinion & Order, slip op., at 47 (S.D.N.Y. 1993).
It

follows

that

he

is

also

uniquely

21

situated

to

evaluate

what

weight to accord various aggravating

and mitigating

given case, and thus, to chose an appropriate

factors

in a

penalty.

An example of the Independent Administrator's great discretion
in this area is found in United States v. IBT ("Sansone"). No. 916140, slip op. at 19-21.

In Sansone, the Second Circuit refused to

overturn

Administrator's decision

the

Independent

to

permanently

bar the President of IBT Local 682, Robert S. Sansone, from holding
Union office, even though the Court of Appeals
might

have

Sansone

reached

had

a different

argued

that

result.

the penalty

See

indicated

id.

imposed was

at

that

19-20.

overly

penalties for arguably similar conduct.
imposed withstood

scrutiny

in this

Nonetheless,

Court and

the

Mr.

harsh

especially given that other IBT members had received more

it

—

lenient

the penalty

Second

Circuit

because, although the penalty was more severe than that which had
been imposed on individuals f o u n d g u i l t y of similar wrongdoing, the
Independent Administrator,
and

was

able

determined
Circuit

to

that

stated,

best
"the

who observed

assess

the

punishment

"the

apparent

the defendant's

corpus
fit

of

the

evidence

crime."

discrepancy

presented,

As

between

the
the

imposed here and those imposed in other cases does not
compel

the

conclusion

that

the

arbitrarily or capriciously."
Thus,
instant
"severe"

Respondents'

matter
or

are

"harsh"

Independent

that

arbitrary

and

deserves a second look.

Second
penalty

inexorably

Administrator

acted

Id. at 20.

claim

is

demeanor

the penalties
capricious

unpersuasive.

Yet,

imposed

because
the

in

they

instant

the
are

matter

While other disciplined IBT members have

22

challenged penalties based on an analysis of penalties imposed in
unrelated matters, Respondents in this case have challenged
penalties

in

light

of

the

conduct

involved in the same matter.
baseline.

and

penalties

of

their

individuals

In other words, there exists a common

While Mr. Sansone, for instance, cited penalties imposed

in wholly unrelated matters, Messrs. Abrego, Ottman, McKay, Cahill,
Brechner, and Simmons raise questions of proportionality
of the penalties imposed on Mr. Burke and Mr. Wolchok.
there

such

a

common

similar mitigating
their

degree

of

baseline

factors.

here,

but

all

in light

Not only is

Respondents

enjoy

Thus, they ostensibly differ only

culpability.

In

light

of

the

fact

the

in

Messrs.

Abrego, Ottman, McKay, Cahill, Brechner, and Simmons appear to be
less culpable than Mr. Burke and Mr. Wolchok,

it is not clear why

identical sanctions have been imposed on all Respondents.
of

respondents

in

the

same

circumstances but differing
same penalty.
can only
Ottman,

with

similar

degrees of culpability,

mitigating
received

In the absence of further explanation,

conclude
McKay,

matter,

that

Cahill,

the sanctions
Brechner,

and

imposed
Simmons

A group

this Court

on Messrs.
are

the

Abrego,

arbitrary

and

capricious.
On remand, the Independent Administrator may conclude that, in
light of the seemingly greater wrongdoing perpetrated by Mr. Burke
and Mr. Wolchok, Messrs. Abrego, Ottman, McKay, Cahill,
and

Simmons

should

be

accorded

a

more

lenient

Brechner,
penalty.

Alternatively, the Independent Administrator may conclude that, in
light of the level of culpability

of each of the Respondents

and

other

mitigating

evidence,

a uniform

penalty

is warranted.

On

remand, the Independent Administrator shall reconsider the penalty
to

be

imposed

on

Respondents

Abrego,

Ottman,

McKay,

Cahill,

Brechner, and Simmons in light of this opinion.

CONCLUSION

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that John T. Burke's and Harold Wolchok's
objections to the Independent Administrator's decision are DENIED;
and

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Mario Abrego's, Robert
Langston

McKay's,

Walter

Cahill's,

Saul

Brechner's,

Ottman's,
and

Walter

Simmons' objections to the Independent Administrator's decision are
DENIED except as to the penalty to be imposed on these respondents;
and

IT

IS

FURTHER

ORDERED

that

this

case

is

remanded

to

the

Independent Administrator to reconsider, in light of this opinion,
the penalty

to be

imposed

on Respondents

Cahill, Brechner, and Simmons;

IT IS FURTHER

ORDERED that

Abrego,

Ottman,

McKay,

and

the

decision

of the

Independent

Administrator is otherwise AFFIRMED; and

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, effective immediately, the stay of
penalties imposed by the Independent Administrator is dissolved in
connection with the penalties imposed on Mr. Burke and Mr. Wolchok.
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SO ORDERED.
Dated:

March 5, 1993
New York, New York

U.S.D.J.
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,
sceven mppu, lyaviu u.
Charts E. Pazar, Ellen Sue Shapiro, U.S.
Dept. of Justice, Civ. Div., Washington, DC,
Mary Jo White, U.S. Atty., E.D.N.Y. by Bob
jgegleiter and Scott Dunn, Brooklyn, NY, for
defendants.
INTERIM ORDER
r JOHNSON, District Judge:
i- [i] Plaintiffs' Third Claim for Relief intrudes, w^er aKa, the denial of due process
rights under the Fifth Amendment of the
United States Constitution in that plaintiff
screened-in Haitian class members detained
on Guantanamo have been denied adequate
medical care. When this Court issued its
April 6, 1992 preliminary injunction which
was affirmed by the Second Circuit Court of
Appeals, it found that there was a serious
question whether the screened-in Haitian
class members detained on Guantanamo
could avail themselves of the protections of
the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment. Due process may require the Government to provide adequate care for detainees
who require medical attention. .See e.g., C%?/
of Revere v. MossocTmsetis Gewerc^ #ospi463 U.S. 239, 243-45, 103 S.Ct. 2979,
2983, 77 L.Ed.2d 605 (1983); Liscio v. Warren, 901 F.2d 274, 275 (2d Cir.1990).
On March 8-11, 15-19, and 25, 1993, the
Court conducted a bench trial on the claims
of the screened-in Haitian class members
detained by the Government at the Guantanamo Naval Base. At trial, the court heard
testimony from the Government's own medical experts that a) class members with a Tcell count of 200 or below and b) some class
members with a T-cell count above 200 and
with a T-cell percentage of 13% or below are
not receiving adequate medical care at Guantanamo. The Court also heard testimony
that the Government has failed to comply
with the recommendations of its own military
doctors that these class members should be
medically evacuated to receive such care.
The Government concedes that the medical
facilities at Guantanamo are not presently
sufficient to provide the level of adequate
care recommended by its own doctors for
such class-members.
[2-4] A district court may exercise its

action, to maintain its ability to render a final
judgment and to ensure the administration of
justice. Therefore, to prevent any loss of life
or the diminution of the plaintiff class until
such time the Court enters a final Order
deciding the merits of Plaintiffs' due process
claim;
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the defendants will either a) provide the level of
adequate care recommended by its own doctors at trial for all screened-in Haitian class
members whose T-cell count is 200 or below
at the medical facilities on Guantanamo Naval Base or b) medically evacuate such class
members to a place (except Haiti) where
such medical care is available within ten days
from the date of this order; and
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the defendants will either a) provide the level of
adequate care recommended by its own doctors at trial for all screened-in Haitian class
members whose T-cell count is above 200 and
whose T-cell percentage is 13 or below or b)
medically evacuate such class members to a
place (except Haiti) where adequate medical
care is available within ten days from the
date of this order.
So ordered.
( o § MY NUMBER SYSTtM)
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UNITED STATES of America, Plaintiff,
v.
INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF
TEAMSTERS, CHAUFFEURS, WAREHOUSEMEN AND HELPERS OF
AMERICA, AFL-CIO, et al., Defendants.
In re APPLICATION XCEX OF the INDEPENDENT ADMINISTRATOR.
No. 88 Civ. 4486 (DNE).
United States District Court,
S.D. New York.
March 5, 1993.
An application was filed for the district
court to review decision of independent ad-

817 FEDERAL
338
ministrator, appointed pursuant to consent
decree between union and United States.
Independent administrator found that investigations officer had proven charges filed
against severat officers and employees of !oca) union. The District Court, Edeistein, J.,
he)d that: (1) sufficient evidence supported
independent administrator's finding that each
of officers breached their fiduciary duties to
dated member program, which was designed
to enrich individua) officers rather than to
benefit unions; (2) sufficient evidence supported finding that officers were invoived in
payment of toan in excess of statutory timit
of $2,000 from tocat union; (3) sufficient evidence supported embezzlement charge based
on officers' actions in authorizing retroactive
saiary increase for union ofEcial amount
equal to amount officer owed on a alary advance; but (4) it was arbitrary and capricious
for independent administrator appointed under consent decree to impose same penalties
on other union officiais regardless of degree
of culpability.
Remanded in part and otherwise affirmed.
1. Federal Civi) Procedure 6=2397.6
In reviewing decisions of independent
administrator under consent decree, district
administrator when it determines that they
are, on the basis of aii the evidence, arbitrary
2. Federa) Civi! Procedure <s=-2397.6
Evidence supported findings of independent administrator appointed under consent
decree that president and secretary-treasurer of local union conceived and impiemented
associate membership program, aiiegediy to
obtain lower cost health insurance benefits,
was impiemented for persona] economic gain
of officers in breach of officer's duty to members of iocai union; aithough independent
administrator found program may have offered some incidentai benefit to iocais, evidence clearly showed that virtuaiiy ail of
funds generated by program were funnelled
directiy to officers rather than to iocais.

SUPPLEMENT
3. Labor Relations <5=1052.2
Saiary advance to union officer or employee constitutes a loan under federa) tabor
iaw. Labor-Management Reporting and Disctosure Act of 1959, § 503(a), 29 U.S.C.A.
9 603(a).
4. Labor Relations 3=1062.2
A saiary advance of $4,309.55, the equivaient of one month's saiary, to union official
was a loan in excess of $2,000 from iocai
union for purposes of provision prohibiting
reorganizations from directiy or indirectly
making ioans over $2,000 to officers or empioyees. Labor-Management Reporting and
Disclosure Act of 1969, § 603(a), 29 U.S.C.A.
§ 503(a).
5. Federal Civi) Procedure 3=2397.6
Sufficient evidence supported Ending by
independent administrator appointed under
consent decree that )ocai union officiais vio)ated labor )aw prohibiting iabor organizations from making loans in excess of $2,000
to officers or empioyees, and breached their
fiduciary duties to the union; record made
dear that officers wilifuiiy engaged in conduct that violated the statute by arranging
for saiary advance to union officer. LaborManagement Reporting and Disciosure Act
of 1959, § 503(a), 29 U.S.C.A. § 503(a).
6. Labor Relations 6=1052.2
Reiiance on the advice of counsel does
not negate the element of intent unless such
reliance is reasonabie.
7. Labor Relations 3=1052.2
Union officials' alleged reliance on advice
of counsel regarding acceptance of toan in
excess of $2,000 from loca) union was not
reasonabte retiance excusing vioiation of federal tabor law where officers did not inform
counse) of a)l information necessary to provide sound, informed advice, by failing to
indicate the amount of the loan or of past
practices of iocai. Labor-Management Reporting and Disclosure Act of 1969, § 603(a),
29 U.S.C.A. 5 503(a); U.S.C.A. Const.
Amend. 6.
8. Federa) Civi] Procedure 3=2397.6
Determination by independent administrator appointed under consent decree, that

U.S. v. INTERNATIONAL
investigations officer had proven audit
charge against union officers, was not arbitrary and capricious; independent administrator found that officer breached fiduciary
duty to union and brought reproach to parent
anion by misrepresenting to parent union
auditor the status of salary advance that had
been made to local union official as having
been "paid in full," in spite of the fact that he
knew that advance had been rolled over from
month to month.
9. Federal Civi) Procedure <9=2397.6
Evidence supported determination by independent administrator of union appointed
under consent decree, that investigations ofEcer had shown just cause to find union
officers had acted with requisite fraudulent
intent to deprive toca) union of its funds by
causing union to give officer retroactive salary increase designed to equal amount that
officer owed to union on salary advance acted
with requisite fraudulent intent to deprive
local of its funds in violation of union constitution and federal labor law; administrator
found officers had not disciosed purpose of
retroactive salary increase.
M. Federal Civil Procedure e=2397.6
Union officers' belief that sanctions imposed by independent administrator appointed under consent decree were "harsh" did
not make independent administrator's decision arbitrary or capricious.
H. Labor Relations 3=122.1, 124
Two-year suspension from parent union,
followed by two-year ban on holding union
affiliated position such as executive or trustee positions, was not an excessively severe
penalty for labor law violations in light of
seriousness of union officials' wrongdoing and
their patent disregard of their fiduciary
duties.
12. Federa! Civi) Procedure 3=2397.6
Independent administrator, who presides over disciplinary hearings pursuant to
consent decree, is best situated to determine
and fix penalty to be imposed on union memprovisions.
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13. Federal Civil Procedure 3=2397.6
It was arbitrary and capricious for independent administrator appointed under consent decree to impose the same penalties on
all union officials who were found culpable in
same matter; although all officials were involved in the same matter, with similar mitigating circumstances, they had differing degrees of culpability.
Charles M. Carberry, Investigations Officer of the Intern. Broth, of Teamsters (Jeffrey S. Toik, of counsel), Roger S. Hayes,
U.S. Atty. for the S.D.N.Y. (Christine H.
Chung, Asst. U.S. Atty., of counsel), for U.S.
Baptiste & Wiider, P.C., Washington, DC
(Robert M. Baptiste, of counsel), for respondents.
OPINION & ORDER
EDELSTEIN, District Judge:
This opinion emanates from the voluntary
settlement of an action commenced by plaintiff United States of America (the "Government") against defendants International
Brotherhood of Teamsters (the "IBT" or the
"Union") and the IBTs General Executive
Board (the "GEB") embodied in the voluntary consent order entered March 14, 1989
(the "Consent Decree"). The Consent Decree provides for three Court-appointed officials: the Independent Administrator to
oversee the Consent Decree's remedial provisions, the Investigations Officer to bring
charges against corrupt IBT members, and
the Election Officer to oversee the electoral
process that culminated in the 1991 election
for International Officers. The goal of the
Consent Decree is to rid the IBT of the
hideous influence of organized crime through
the election and disciplinary provisions.
Application XCIX presents for this Court's
review the decision of the Independent Administrator finding that the Investigations
Officer had proven charges filed against John
T. Burke, Jr., President of IBT Local 868
and 917; Harold Wolchok, Secretary-Treasurer of IBT Local 868 and 917; Mario Abrego. Vice President of IBT Local 917 and
Trustee of IBT Local 868; Robert Ottman,
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Trustee of tBT Loca) 917 and business agent
of IBT Local 868; Langston McKay, Recording Secretary of IBT Locat 917 and business
agent for Locat 868; Waiter Cahiii, Trustee
of IBT Loca) 868 and 917; Saui Brechner,
Vice President of IBT Locai 868; and, Waiter Simmons, Trustee of Locai 917. and business agent for Loca) 868.'
BACKGROUND
Respondents are members or former members of the Executive Boards of IBT Locais
868 and 917. Locai 917 is based in New
York City and represents gasoiine station
and parking garage attendants, automobite
mechanics, cleaning service personne) and
staff employees of a charitabte organization,
the United Jewish Appea). Loca) 868 is
headquartered in Locai 917's New York offices, and was organized by Locai 917 officers
to represent automobiie deaiership emptoyees and tiquor truck drivers.
The Investigations Officer atieged that Respondents breached their fiduciary duties to
the members of IBT Locais 868 and 917 in
viotation of Articie II, Section 2(a) and Articie XIX, Section 6(b) of the IBT Constitution * by executing a scheme, under the guise
of an associate membership program, to enrich themsetves (the "Associate Membership
Program Charge"). Articie II, Section 2(a)
is the IBT membership oath, which provides
in reievant part that every IBT member shai)
"conduct himseif or herself in a manner so as
not to bring reproach upon the Union." Articie XIX, Section 6(b) is a non-exhaustive iist
of discipiinary charges that may be fiied
against IBT members. One such charge is
vioiating the IBT membership oath. See Article XIX, § 6(b)(2).
In addition to these charges, the Investigations OfHcer fiied two additions) charges
against Messrs. Burke and Wolchok. First,
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Mr. Burke and Mr. Wotchok were charged
with breaching their fiduciary duties to the
Union and violating 29 U.S.C.§ 503(a)'in
connection with an illegal )oan to Mr. Burke
from Loca) 917 (the "Loan Charge"). Second, Mr. Burke and Mr. Woichok were
charged with breaching their Sduciary duties
to the Union and vioiating Article XIX, Section 6(b)(3) of the IBT Constitution, by embezzling more than $6,000 of Loca) 917's
funds via a retroactive increase of Mr.
Burke's satary (the "Embezztement
Charge"). Finally, Mr. Wotchok was
charged with bringing reproach upon the
IBT in viotation of Articte II, Section 2(a)
and Articte XIX, Section 6(b) < of the IBT
Constitution by submitting faise and disttonest information in connection with an IBT
audit of Locat 917's books (the "Audit
Charge").
Pursuant to paragraph F. 12(C) of the Consent Decree, the Independent Administrator
must decide disciptinary hearings using a
"just cause" standard. The Investigations
Officer has the burden of estabtishing just
cause by a preponderance of the evidence.
December 27, 1990 Opinion & Order, 754
F.Supp. 333, 337 (S.D.N.Y.1990). After conducting a hearing at which Respondents
were represented by counsei, and receiving
pre- and post-hearing briefs, the Independent Administrator issued a thirty-page decision. The Independent Administrator found
that the Investigations Officer had sustained
his burden of proving the charges fited
against Respondents.
As a penatty for this conduct, the Independent Administrator suspended Respondents
from the IBT, and barred them from receiving compensation from any IBT-affiiiated
source, for a period of two years. In addition, the Independent Administrator disquaiified Respondents from hotding any IBT-afBt-

). John T. Burke. Jr.. Harold Wolchok, Mario 3. Title 29, United States Code. Section 503(a)
Abrego, Robert Ottman, Langston McKay, Walter
excess of $2,000.
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iated Union positions, such as Executive Administrator when it determines that they
Board or Trustee positions, for two addition- are, on the basis of ali the evidence, "arbial years foilowing the expiration of their sus- trary or capricious." C/?tt(ed SMes v. /Br,
pension from the IBT. Furthermore, the 964 F.2d 1308,1311 (2d Cir.1992); August 27,
Independent Administrator exercised his au- 1990 Opinion & Order, 746 F.Supp. 908, 911
thority to impose sanctions upon Respon- (S.D.N.Y.1990), <#<4 941 F.2d 1292 (2d Cir.),
dents' employee benefits. See December 28, cert dented; — U.S.
, 112 S.Ct. 76, 116
1990 Memorandum & Order, 763 F.Supp. L.Ed.2d 60 (1991); March 13,1990 Opinion &
1181 (S.D.N.Y.1990),
941 F.2d 1292 (2d Order, 743 F.Supp. 166, 166 (S.D.N.Y.1990),
Cir.), cert denied, — U.S.
, 112 S.Ct. %% 906 F.2d 610 (2d Cir.1990); see Juty 14,
76,116 L.Ed.2d 60 (1991). The Independent 1992 Opinion & Order, 803 F.Supp. 748, 764
Administrator prohibited the IBT or any af- (S.D.N.Y.1992); July 13,1992 Opinion&Orfiiiate from contributing funds to sustain ben- der, 803 F.Supp. 740, 745-46 (S.D.N.Y.1992);
efits on behaif of Respondents during their July 9, 1992 Opinion & Order, 803 F.Supp.
period of suspension. Finaiiy, the Indepen- 734, 737-38 (S.D.N.Y.1992); May 16, 1992
dent Administrator ordered that the IBT and Opinion & Order, 792 F.Supp. 1346, 1362
IBT-affiiiated entities refrain from contribut- (S.D.N.Y.1992); April 27,1992 Memorandum
ing to iegai fees incurred by Respondents in & Order, 791 F.Supp. 421, 426 (S.D.N.Y.
connection with the instant discipiinary ac- 1992); February 11, 1992 Memorandum &
tion. See Pmted Sioies n Locd H04-1, 732 Order, 787 F.Supp. 346, 360 (S.D.N.Y.1992);
F.Supp. 434, 437 (S.D.N.Y.1990). The Inde- January 20,1992 Memorandum & Order, 782
pendent Administrator stayed his decision F.Supp. 256, 259 (S.D.N.Y.1992); January 16,
1992 Memorandum & Order, 782 F.Supp.
pending this Court's review.
238, 241 (S.D.N.Y.1992); November 8, 1991
Respondents appeai the decision of the Memorandum & Order, 948 F.2d 1338, 1341Independent Administrator. This Court 42 (S.D.N.Y.1991); October 29, 1991 Opinion
finds that the Independent Administrator's & Order, 776 F.Supp. 144, 162-63 (S.D.N.Y.
determination that the Investigations OfHcer 1991), <H% 964 F.2d 801 (2d Cir.1992), cert
had proven the charges against Respondents dented, — U.S.
, 112 S.Ct. 2993, 120
is fully supported by the evidence, and that L.Ed.2d 870 (1992); October
26,1991, Order,
Respondents' arguments to the contrary are 777 F.Supp. 1133, 1136 (S.D.N.Y.1991);
devoid of merit Furthermore, the Court ber 24, 1991 Memorandum & Order,Octo777
Snds that the penaity imposed by the Inde- F.Supp. 1133, 1136 (S.D.N.Y.1991); October
pendent Administrator on Mr. Burke and 16,1991 Memorandum & Order, 777 F.Supp.
Mr. Wolchok is fully supported by the evi- 1130, 1132 (S.D.N.Y.1991), % % 964 F.2d
dence. However, for the reasons discussed 1308 (2d Cir.1992); October 11, 1991 Memobeiow, see tn/Sm at 347-348, the penaity im- randum
& Order, 777 F.Supp. 1127, 1128
posed on Messrs. Abrego, Ottman, McKay, (S.D.N.Y.1991),
966 F.2d 1161, Mnpt<bCahiii, Brechner and Simmons is vacated and ttsAed sHp op. (2d<#<4
Cir.1992); October 9, 1991
remanded to the Independent Administrator Memorandum & Order,
777 F.Supp. 1123,
for reconsideration. Accordingly, the opinion 1126 (S.D.N.Y.1991); August
Memoof the Independent Administrator is affirmed randum & Order, aitp op., at14,1991
4,
1991
WL
in part and vacated in part.
161084 (S.D.N.Y.1991); July 31,1991 Memorandum & Order, sHp op., at 3-4, 1991 WL
DISCUSSION
160226 (S.D.N.Y.1991), <#<4 966 F.2d 1161,
[1] In reviewing decisions of the Inde- wtpuMtsAed sHp op. (2d Cir.1992); Juiy 18,
pendent Administrator, it is weit settled that 1991 Memorandum & Order, e%tp op., at 3—4,
the findings of the Independent Administra- 1991 WL 136030 (S.D.N.Y.1991), (9% 956
tor "are entitled to great deference." t/nited F.2d 1161, MMpaMtsAed sitp op. (2d Cir.1992);
States v. /Br, 906 F.2d 610, 616 (2d Cir. Juiy 16,1991 Opinion & Order, sitp op., at 31990), <%% March 13,1990 Opinion & Order, 4, 1991 WL 136029 (S.D.N.Y.1991); June 6,
743 F.Supp. 166 (S.D.N.Y.1990). This Court 1991 Opinion & Order, 776 F.Supp. 90, 93
will overturn the findings of the Independent (S.D.N.Y.1991), qg"d ttt reiewttt part 948

342

817 FEDERAL
F.2d 1278 (2d Cir.1991); May 13,1991 Memorandum&Order, 764 F.Supp. 817, 820-21
(S.D.N.Y.1991); May 9, 1991 Memorandum
& Order, 764 F.Supp. 797, 800 (S.D.N.Y.
1991)
956 F.2d 1161 MnpHMtsM sKp
op. (2d Cir.1992); May 6, 1991 Opinion &
Order, 764 F.Supp. 787, 789 (S.D.N.Y.), <#(4
940 F.2d 648 (2d Cir.), cert <&Mte% — U.S.
, 112 S.Ct. 76, 116 L.Ed.2d 50 (1991);
December 27, 1990 Opinion & Order, 754
F.Supp. 333, 337 (S.D.N.Y.1990); September
18, 1990 Opinion & Order, 745 F.Supp. 189,
191-92 (S.D.N.Y.1990); January 17, 1990
Opinion & Order, 728 F.Supp. 1032, 1045-57,
%% 907 F.2d 277 (2d Cir.1990).
I. TAe Associate MemAersAip Pmpmrnt
CAarpe
The Independent Administrator found that
each of the Respondents breached their fiduciary duties to the genera) membership and
brought reproach upon the IBT by engaging
in transactions adverse to the interests of the
Union rank and file. The members of both
Locai 917 and Locai 868 participate in the
Loca) 917 Heaith & Weifare Fund (the
"Fund*') pursuant to their coiiective bargaining agreements, In 1986, Mr. Burke and
Mr. Woichok became aware that severa] empioyers of Union members were interested in
obtaining low-cost heaith insurance from the
Union for empioyees who were not members
of coHective bargaining units. Thereafter,
Respondents deveioped an "associate , membership" program (the "Program") that aiiowed companies that were parties to coiiective bargaining agreements with Loca) 917 or
Locai 868 to obtain coverage for non-Union
empioyees through the Fund. Associate
members were not required to join the Union
in order to enroii in the Program and indeed
Union membership.
In administering the associate membership
program, Respondents deatt with empioyers
of Locai members rather than with persons
to be covered by the Fund. Pursuant to the
terms of the Program, Respondents negotiated with empioyers and required, as a condition to participation in the Program, that ait
eiigibie non-Union personnei participate.
Empioyers were charged with the task of
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recruiting associate members. Empioyers
then paid a service fee to the Locais based on
the number of associate members that they
recruited. The service fees for associate
membership ranged from $10 to (12 per
member.
The Independent Administrator found that
Respondents "faiied to rebut the centra] conciusion urged by the Investigations Officer—
that the associate membership program was
conceived soieiy as a means to enrich the
individuai Respondents." /nAAdntin-Oea at
17. Finding that Respondents did not use
funds generated by the associate membership program to benefit the Locais, see id. at
18, the Independent Administrator determined that
-'
the Respondents abused their trusted positions as Union officers to further a scheme
which was designed with oniy one purpose
in mind—to further their own individuai
Bnancia) interest. As such, the Respondents brought 'reproach upon the Union.'
IBT Constitution (1986), Articie II, Sec.
2(a); Articie XIX, Sec. 6.
/A
Respondents dispute the Independent Administrator's findings, arguing that Union
members benefitted from the Program because the Program heiped pubiicize the benefits of Union membership, increased Union
revenues, and increased income to the Fund
itseif. -See Respondents' Ohyections to Application XC/X o/ tAg /^dependent Adntinisbmtor ("Respondents' Objections"), at 8, 10.
Respondents deny that the Program was designed for their personai enrichment, and
attribute the Program's genesis to a February 1985 AFL-CIO report discussing the
deciine of organized iabor in the United
States. See id at 5-9. Finaiiy, Respondents
argue that the terms of the Program were
reviewed and approved by Mr. Irving Bush,
counse) to the Locais. See id at 11, 15.
[2] Respondents' objections to the decision of the Independent Administrator are
without merit. The evidence cieariy supports the Independent Administrator's finding that Respondents conceived and impiemented the associate membership program
for their persona] economic gain. In so do-
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ing, Respondents breached their fiduciary
duties to the members of Local 868 and
Loea! 917 and brought reproach Upon the
IBT. White the Independent Administrator
found that the Program may have offered
some incidental benefit to the Locals, the
evidence dearly shows that virtually at] of
the funds generated by this Program were
funnelled directiy to Respondents rather
than to the coffers of Locals 868 and 917.
Evidence abounds of such an improper
purpose and deieterious effect. The records
of Locaia 868 and 917 detail a significant
correction between the receipt of service
fees and Respondents' salary levels: Respondents' salaries increased in almost direct proportion to the service fees collected as a
result of the Program. For example, in
1987, Locals 868 and 917 collected $127,316.00 more in service fees than they had in
1986. In 1987 Respondents paid themselves
$128,769.00 more in salaries than they had
received in 1986. Moreover, while Mr.
Burke received a total salary of $77,420.00
from the Locals in 1985; in 1987, the first full
year in which service fees were collected, Mr.
Burke's total salary increased to $115,959.00.
The record further shows that Respondents' efforts on behalf of the associate membership program were motivated by the opportunity for personal gain. For example, it
was adduced in the course of hearings before
the Independent Administrator that at a
June 29,1988 meeting of the Local 868 Executive Board, Mr. Wolchok argued that, unless associate membership fees continued to
increase, Respondents would be unable to
get paid the salaries that they wanted. Specifically, Mr. Wolchok stated in reference to
Respondents' salaries that, "[a]s always, the
only way we can resolve this issue is to
increase our organizing efforts both in the
traditional mechanism and in associate
groups." See Minutes of Loca! Ezectttive Roati% June 29, J 9AS. Although Respondents deny that they actively solicited
new associate membership accounts, see Respondents' Objections at 14, the evidence adduced before the Independent Administrator
refutes this denial. See, e.p., Minutes of
Loco/ #63 Executive BoartH November J6,
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(stating that "all agents should redouble
their efforts to bring in new accounts").
Respondents' thus breached their fiduciary
duties to the Locals. An insidious by-product of the Program was that it made Respondents financially dependent on employers'
discretionary continuance with the Program.
Employers that participated in the Program
were, by the terms of the Program, free to
terminate participation at any time. In order for Respondents to maintain their artificially high salaries, they needed to ensure
that the Program continued to generate fees.
This created an impermissible conflict between the interests of the general membership and Respondents' personal financial interests. While Respondents, as Executive
Board members, were required to act solely
on behalf of the membership when dealing
with employers, Respondents' reliance on the
service fees generated by the Program made
them beholden to those employers with
whom they negotiated. By callously abdicating their responsibilities in order to achieve
personal economic gain, Respondents placed
themselves in a position where their interests
could be adverse to those of the general
membership. Respondents thus crafted a
scheme—the associate membership program—that allowed them to collect money
for their personal economic benefit without
regard to the deleterious effect such action
might have on their representation of the
general membership. The Independent Administrator's finding that the Investigations
Officer had proven the Associate Membership Program Charge against Respondents is
fully supported by the evidence.
II. 77t% Loan CAatye and Mtg .Andit CAotye
On November 10, 1988, Mr. Burke received his November salary from Local 917
in the amount of $4,309.55. On the same
day, Mr. Burke received a second check in
the amount of $4,309.55 as an "advance" on
his December 1988 salary and allowance. In
full salary and allowance in spite of the earlier "advance." Local 917's books describe the
December 1988 payment as an "advance" on
Mr. Burke's January 1989 salary. This pattern was repeated, and the loan rolled over,
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such that Mr. Burke remained indebted to
Local 917 for the sum of $4,309.66—the
equivalent of one month's aaiary and advance—until December 1989. This unsecured, interest-free indebtedness was not
memorialized by a promissory note or loan
agreement.
In February 1989, an IBT auditor, Mr.
John Hartigan, questioned Locai 917 about
Mr. Burke's outstanding saiary advance.
Initially, Respondent Ottman informed the
auditor that it was a "mistake" and that Mr.
Burke had repaid the loan. Mr. Hartigan
asked Mr. Ottman to verify this information.
Thereafter, Mr. Ottman discovered that the
ioan remained outstanding and informed Mr.
Hartigan and Mr. Burke of this fact. Mr.
Burke ciaims that he repaid the advance the
day after he was notified that it was outstanding. See Respondents' Objections at 18.
The Independent Administrator did not credit this testimony, however, and found that
this repayment was "iiiusory." See
mim-Dec. at 26.
On March 31, 1989, then Genera] Secretary-Treasurer of the IBT, Weldon L. Mathis, wrote Mr. Burke to question whether the
advance had been repaid. Mr. Burke forwarded this ietter to Mr. Woichok for response. Mr. Woichok knew that Mr. Burke
continued to owe money to Locai 917 because
the November 1988 ioan had been "roiied
over" from month to month. Nevertheless,
Mr. Woichok transmitted a ietter, dated
Aprii 12, 19S9, to the IBT stating that "this
oversight was paid in full on February 13,
1989." See Respondent' ejections at 44.
With regard to the Loan Charge, the Independent Administrator found that the Investigations Officer had proven that Messrs.
Burke and Woichok vioiated 29 U.S.C.
§ 603(a) and breached their fiduciary duties
to the Union. See /HdAhnittPea at 23.
Title 29, United States Code, Section 603(a)
prohibits labor organizations from directiy or
indirectly making ioans in excess of $2,000.00
to officers or empioyees of such organizations. Mr. Burke and Mr. Woichok object to
the Independent Administrator's determination, and have reiterated before this Court
arguments raised in front of the Independent
Administrator. Messrs. Burke and Woichok
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do not contest that Mr. Burke accepted salary advances from Local 917 in excess of
$2,000.00, that Mr. Burke owed this sum to
the Locai from November 1988 through December 1989, or that both Mr. Burke and Mr.
Wolchok signed the checks representing the
salary advance. See /M&A<hnin.Dea at 19.
Messrs. Burke and Woichok, however, contend that the Independent Administrator's
findings with regard to the Loan Charge are
arbitrary and capricious because Mr. Burke
and Mr. Wolchok did not realize that a salary
advance constituted a loan, relied on the
advice of counsel prior to engaging in the
ailegedly offensive conduct, and their violation, if any, was not wiiilui. These objections
are without merit.
[3,4] It is clear that a saiary advance
constitutes a loan within the meaning of 29
U.S.C. $ 603(a). As the Independent Administrator stated, Black's Law Dictionary
defines a ioan as:
Delivery by one party to and receipt by
another party of a sum of money, upon
agreement, express or impiied, to repay it
with or without interest.
/M&AdtntM.Dec. at 20 (quoting
Law
Dictionary (6th Ed.1991)). The Independent
Administrator found that "[h]ere, monies
were delivered by the Local to Burke, who
received and accepted the money, with, at a
minimum, an impiicit agreement to repay the
Local." M at 20. The Independent Administrator therefore found that Mr. Burke had
accepted a ioan in excess of $2,000.00 from
the Local. See id. This conclusion is dearly
supported by the evidence.
[5] Thus, the only questions that remain
are whether Messrs. Burke and Woichok are
relieved of liability under 29 U.S.C. § 503(a)
because they allegedly did not know they
were violating a federai statute or because
they aiiegediy sought and acted in accordance with the advice of counsel. First, Mr.
Burke and Mr. Woichok need not have
known specificaily of the terms of the prohibition contained in 29 U.S.C. § 603(a), bethe statute. See United States v. 5canio, 900
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F.2d 486, 489 (2d Cir.l990).= As the Independent Administrator correctiy stated,
"[t]he willfulness of Respondents' conduct
iies not in whether they willfully violated the
stotMte, but whether they wiHfuily engaged in
conduct that vioiated the statute." /<ML4<%MiTt Dec. at 21. The record makes dear that
Messrs. Burke and Woichok wilXuiiy engaged in conduct that vioiated the statute.
Therefore, the Independent Administrator's
finding that Mr. Burke and Mr. Woichok
breached their fiduciary duties to the Union
by wiiifuiiy engaging in conduct that vioiated
29 U.S.C. § 603(a) is neither arbitrary or
capricious.
[6,7] Second, reiiance on the advice of
counsel does not negate the element of intent
uniess such reiiance is reasonabte. In order
for reiiance to be reasonabie, Mr. Burke and
Mr. Woichok were required, at a minimum,
to inform counsei of ai) information necessary
for counsei to provide sound, informed advice. Nevertheless, Mr. Burke and Mr. Woichok admit that they failed to inform counsei
of the amount of the loan or of the past
practices of the Local. Respondents' Ohy'eci<MM at 44. Because Messrs. Burke and
Wolchok failed to fuiiy inform counsei of
materia) facts necessary for counsei to assess
the legality of the loan to Mr. Burke, they
cannot escape liability by claiming reliance
on the advice of counsei. Sea t/nited States
v. Beecb-Mtt ATMb-tttom Corp., 871 F.2d 1181,
1194 (2d Cir.1989), cert <&nte4 493 U.S. 933,
110 S.Ct. 324, 107 L.Ed.2d 314 (1989).
Therefore, the Independent Administrator's
determination that the Investigations OfBcer
had proven the Loan Charge against Mr.
Burke and Mr. Wolchok is supported by the
weight of the evidence.
[81 Finaiiy, the Independent Administrator found that Mr. Wolchok breached his
fiduciary duty to the Union and brought reproach upon the IBT by misrepresenting to
an IBT auditor the status of the salary advance that had been made to Mr. Burke.
See
at 24-26. Article X,
Section 10, of the IBT Constitution authorizes the General Secretary-Treasurer of the
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IBT to audit the books of Local Unions.
This Article makes interference with such an
audit a basis for discipline under Article XIX.
In February 1989, foiiowing an audit conducted pursuant to Article X of the IBT
Constitution, Mr. Woichok informed the General Secretary-Treasurer that Mr. Burke's
advance was "paid in full" in spite of the fact
that he knew that the advance had been
rolled over from month to month. Accordingly, the Independent Administrator found
that "the Investigations Officer has met his
burden of just cause in proving that Respondent Wolchok willfully or intentionally sought
to misrepresent the facts" concerning the
loan to Mr. Burke. /?td.AdHMK.Dec. at 26.
Respondents have submitted no new evidence to this Court that casts doubt on the
Independent Administrator's findings. Indeed, Respondents are unable to refute that
Mr. Wolchok intentionally misrepresented to
the IBT the status of Mr. Burke's ioan or
that he knew such statements were false at
the time that they were made. As such, the
Independent Administrator's determination
that the Investigations Officer had proven
the Audit Charge is not arbitral or capricious.
III. 77te
Charge
In or around November 16, 1989, Messrs.
Burke and Wolchok, in their capacity as
members of the Executive Board of Local
917, caused Local 917 to give Mr. Burke a
salary increase of $6,019.00, retroactive to
January 1, 1989. See MtitMies o/* ^Ae Loco/
9J7 Executive Board, MwemAer J 5, 1M9.
Respondents admit that this raise was designed so that "the amount equaled] the
amount that [Burke] owed to the Local Union on the salary advance." J?espondemis'
Objection at 20. Indeed, Mr. Burke performed no additional work for the retroactive
payment, and had previously been fully compensated for the period that it covered.
[9] The Investigations Officer aiieged
that the retroactive aatary increase was unauthorized and frauduient and thus vioiated
29 U.S.C. § 601(c) and IBT Constitution Arprohibition contained in 29 U.S.C. § 503(a).
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tide XIX, § 6(b)(3). Artide XIX of the IBT
Constitution prohibits the embezzlement or
conversion of Union funds. Respondents assert that Mr. Burke and Mr. Woichok revested to the Executive Board of Local 917
that the purpose of the retroactive raise was
to satisfy Mr. Burke's indebtedness to the
Locat. The Independent Administrator,
however, did not find this claim credibie and
determined that Mr. Burke and Mr. Woichok
did not reveal this purpose to the Executive
Board. Thus, the Independent Administrator found that the Investigations Officer had
"proven by a fair preponderance of the evidence that Respondents Burke and Woichok
acted with the requisite fraudulent intent to
deprive Local 917 of its funds."
mttt Dec. at 24.
Mr. Burke and Mr. Woichok challenge the
sufficiency of the evidence supporting the
Independent Administrator's determination
that they had not disclosed to the Executive
Board of Local 917 the true purpose of the
retroactive salary increase. However, such a
determination is well within the province of
the Independent Administrator: The Indeassess the credibility of witnesses as well as
the weight to be accorded evidence adduced
at a hearing. See fVttited States v. /BT, 978
F.2d 68, 74 (2d Cir.1992). After carefully
reviewing the evidence before the Court, as
well as the transcript of the hearing conducted by the Independent Administrator, this
Court finds that the evidence strongly supports the Independent Administrator's decision that Messrs. Woichok and Burke failed
to inform the Executive Board of Local 917
as to the true purpose of the retroactive
salary increase. Therefore, Messrs. Burke
and Woichok acted with fraudulent intent
and the retroactive aaiary advance was prohibited by the IBT Constitution. See IBT
Constitution Article XIX, § 6(b)(3); see mho
29 U.S.C. 9 501(c). The Independent Administrator's determination that the Investigations Officer had shown just cause to End
that Messrs. Burke and Woichok acted with
the requisite fraudulent intent to deprive Local 917 of its funds, and had therefore proven
the Embezzlement Charge, was not arbitrary
or capricious.

SUPPLEMENT
IV. rhe PenaMp
Respondents contend that the penalty imposed by the Independent Administrator—a
two year suspension from the IBT followed
by a two-year ban on holding IBT affiliated
positions such as Executive Board or Trustee
positions—is arbitrary and capricious. Respondents argue that this penalty is "excessively severe," see Respondents OAjecttons at
46, 48, and that the Independent Administrator failed to consider the individual Respondents' level of participation in the offenses
charged, /d. at 48.
a. The Penalties Imposed on Respondents Burke and Woichok
,
[10,11] Mr. Burke's and Mr. Wolchok's
argument, to the extent that it is based on
the severity of the sanctions imposed, is
wholly without merit. The Independent Administrator carefuiiy considered Mr. Burke's
and Mr. Wolchok's participation in the
charged offense as weii as factors in mitigation of punishment. See /n<L4<&nim.ZJec. at
26-29. Indeed, in imposing sanctions, the
Independent Administrator specificaily "acknowledgefd] the contributions that [Mr.
Burke and Mr. Woichok] have made to ...
both Local 917 and Local 868." M at 26.
Mr. Burke's and Mr. Wolchok's belief that
the sanctions imposed are "harsh" does not
make the Independent Administrator's decision arbitrary or capricious. See United
States v. /Br, 981 F.2d 1362, 1371 (2d Cir.
1992) (refusing to overturn Independent Administrator's decision, even though court itr
seif may have imposed a less severe sanction). As the Second Circuit has stated,
"[t]he experienced independent administrator—himself a former federal district
judge—heard the witnesses and Bxed a penalty. On this record there is no basis for
finding the penalty chosen by the administrator was either arbitrary or capridous."
United States v. /BT, 978 F.2d 68, 74 (2d
Cir.1992). The Independent Administrator
carefuiiy considered the evidence presented.
In tight of the seriousness of Messrs. Burke's
and Wotchok's wrongdoing and their patent
disregard of their fiduciary duties, the penalty fixed by the Independent Administrator
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was appropriate and was not arbitrary or
capricious.
b. The Penalties Imposed on Respondents Mario Abrego, Robert Ottman,
Langston McKay, Waiter Cahiil, Saul
Brechner, and Waiter Simmons
[12] A unique consideration is presented
with regard to the penaities imposed by the
Independent Administrator on Messrs. Abrego, Ottman, McKay, CahiH, Brechner, and
Simmons. Both this Court and the Second
Circuit have heid that the Independent Administrator, who presides over disciplinary
hearings pursuant to the Consent Decree, is
best situated to determine and Ex the penalty to be imposed upon IBT members who
violate the Consent Decree's discipiinary provisions. See Vntted States v. /By, 978 F.2d
at 73. In doing so, he is entitied to great
deference. See Mwited States v. IBT, 981
F.2d at 1368; UHtWSiatM v.
978 F.2d
at 74. This is a matter of critical importance.
The Independent Administrator, a former
federal district judge, conducts the hearings
and thus is best equipped to evaiuate the
demeanor, credibiiity and, ultimately, the capability, of those who appear before him.
&M id; Feb. 9, 1993 Opinion .& Order, 814
F.Supp. 1165, 1186 (S.D.N.Y.1993). It foiiows that he is aiso uniquety situated to
evaiuate what weight to accord various aggravating and mitigating factors in a given
case, and thus, to chose an appropriate penalty.
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though the penalty was more severe than
that which had been imposed on individuals
found guilty of simiiar wrongdoing, the Independent Administrator, who observed the defendant's demeanor and was abie to best
assess the corpus of evidence presented, determined that "the punishment fit the crime."
As the Second Circuit stated, "the apparent
discrepancy between the penalty imposed
here and those imposed in other eases does
not inexorably compel the conclusion that the
Independent Administrator acted arbitrarily
or capriciously." M at 1372.
Thus, Respondents' claim that the penalties imposed in the instant matter are arbitrary and capricious because they are "severe" or "harsh" is unpersuasive. Yet, the
instant matter deserves a second look.
While other disciplined IBT members have
challenged penalties based on an analysis of
penalties imposed in unrelated matters, Respondents in this ease have chaiienged their
penalties in light of the conduct and penalties
of individuals involved in the same matter.
In other words, there exists a common baseline. While Mr. Sansone, for instance, cited
penalties imposed in wholly unrelated matters, Messrs. Abrego, Ottman, McKay, CahiH, Brechner, and Simmons raise questions
of proportionality in iight of the penalties
imposed on Mr. Burke and Mr. Wolchok.
Not only is there such a common baseline
here, but all Respondents enjoy similar mitigating factors. Thus, they ostensibly differ
only in their degree of culpability. In iight
of the fact the Messrs. Abrego, Ottman,
McKay, Cahiil, Brechner, and Simmons appear to be less culpable than Mr. Burke and
Mr. Wolchok, it is not clear why identical
sanctions have been imposed on all Respondents. A group of respondents in the same
matter, with similar mitigating circumstances
but differing degrees of culpability, received

[13] An example of the Independent Administrator's great discretion in this area is
found in C/atted
v. /Bf ("Sansone"),
981 F.2d 1362, 1370-72. In Sanson^ the
Second Circuit refused to overturn the Independent Administrator's decision to permanently bar the President of IBT Local 682,
Robert S. Sansone, from holding Union office, even though the Court of Appeais indicated that it might have reached a different explanation, this Court can on)y conclude
result. See id. at 1370-72. Mr. Sansone had that the sanctions imposed on Messrs. Abreargued that the penalty imposed was overly go, Ottman, McKay, Cahiil, Brechner, and
Simmons are arbitrary and capricious.
bers had received more lenient penalties for
On remand, the Independent Administraarguably similar conduct. Nonetheless, the tor may conclude that, in iight of the seempenalty imposed withstood scrutiny in this ingly greater wrongdoing perpetrated by Mr.
Court and the Second Circuit because, al- Burke and Mr. Wolchok, Messrs. Abrego,
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Ottman, McKay, CahiM, Brechner, and Simmons shouid be accorded a more tenient penLeticia ORTIZ and Jesse
aity. Altemativeiy, the Independent AdminGuevara, Plaintiffs,
istrator may conclude that, in tight of the
teve) of culpability of each of the ResponDavid E. ROSNER and Filter
dents and other mitigating evidence, a uniCab Corp., Defendants.
form penaity is warranted. On remand, the
Independent Administrator shaii reconsider
No. 91 Civ. 3099 (PKL).
the penalty to be imposed on Respondents
Abrego, Ottman, McKay, Cahi)), Brechner,
United States District Court,
and Simmons in light of this opinion.
S.D. New York.
March 11, 1993.
CONCLUSION
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that John T.
Driver of automobile that was rear-endBurke's and Harotd Woichok'a objections to ed by cab sued cab company for personai
the Independent Administrator's decision are injuries. Driver's husband aiso sued' cab
company for loss of driver's services as result
DENIED; and
of accident. Plaintiffs moved for summary
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Mario judgment. The District Court, Leisure, J.,
Abrego's, Robert Ottman's, Langston held that issues remained as to, inter alia,
McKay's, Waiter Cahiit's, Saut Brechne^s, whether ptaintiff driver remained at intersecand Waiter Simmons' objections to the Inde- tion after iight changed to green.
pendent Administrator's decision are DEMotiondenied.
NIED except as to the penaity to be imposed
on these respondents; and
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this 1. Federal Civil Procedure 3=2515
case is remanded to the Independent AdminSummary judgment is difficult to obtain
istrator to reconsider, in iight of this opinion, in negiigence actions because whether conthe penaity to be imposed on Respondents duct is "negiigence" is factual determination
Abrego, Ottman, McKay, CahiU, Brechner, in alt but most extreme situations. Fed.
and Simmons; and
Rules Civ.Proc.Ruie 56(c), 28 U.S.C.A.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the 2. Automobiles <3=112(7)
decision of the Independent Administrator is
Under New York iaw, faiiure to fotiow
otherwise AFFIRMED; and
other vehides at "reasonabte and prudent"
absence of adequate explanation,
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, effec- distance, in "negiigence"
as matter of law.
tive immediateiy, the stay of penaities im- constitutes
Vehicie and Traffic Law
posed by the Independent Administrator is N.Y.McKinney*s
dissoived in connection with the penaities § 1129(a).
imposed on Mr. Burke and Mr. Wotchok.
SO ORDERED.
3. AutomobHes 3=245(15)
Federal Chit Procedure ^"2485
Under New York iaw, fact that accident
invoives rear-end cotiision does not automatic a l estabiish iiabitity as matter of law;
white known adverse road conditions are not
adequate to rebut inference of negiigence
created by rear-end coiiision, sudden or unavoidable circumstances which couid have
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contributed to happening of accident may by defendant Filter Cab. Both Ortiz's vehicreate materia) issue of fact which precludes cle and defendants' taxi were southbound on
summary judgment. N.Y.McKinney*s Vehi- Second Avenue when the taxi struck Ortiz's
de and Traffic Law § H29(a).
vehicie in the rear white it was stopped at the
intersection of Second Avenue and St. Mark's
4. Federal CM) Procedure 3=2485
Place.
Genuine issues of materia! fact, preceding summary judgment under New York taw Plaintiff Ortiz seeks damages against defor driver of rear-ended automobile, existed fendants in the sum of $750,000 for personal
as to, inter a!ia, whether rear-ending automo- injuries sustained due to the atleged negtibile was too dose to preceding vehicle, and as gence of defendants in the ownership, operato whether driver of rear-ended automobiie tion, maintenance and control of their vehicle.
remained at intersection after tight changed Plaintiff Guevara, the husband of ptaintiff
back to green either to allow her daughter to Ortiz, seeks (250,000 for the loss of his wife's
move into front seat, or because car stopped services as a resutt of the accident. Plainin front of her automobiie failed to move. tiffs have now moved for an order granting
N.Y.McKinney's Vehicie and Traffic Law summary judgment in plaintiffs' favor on the
issue of liabitity and directing an assessment
§ 1129(a).
of plaintiffs' damages.
Emest Hoizberg, New York City, for
DISCUSSION
plaintiffs.
Gerber & Garson, Brooklyn, NY (William I. STANDARD FOR SUMMARY JUDGLewis Wexler, of counsel), for defendants.
MENT
Rule
56(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil
OPINION AND ORDER
Procedure provides that summary judgment
LEISURE, District Judge:
"shalt be rendered forthwith if the pleadings,
This is a diversity action in negiigence depositions, answers to interrogatories, and
arising out of injuries allegedly caused by a admissions on file, together with the affidarear-end collision on September 5, 1988, at vits, if any, show that there is no genuine
the intersection of Second Avenue and Saint issue as to any material fact and that the
Mark's Place in the borough of Manhattan in moving party is entitled to a judgment as a
New York City, New York. Plaintiffs LeH- matter of law." Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c); seeCeJccia Ortiz ("Ortiz") and Jesse Guevara ("Gue- (62 Corp. v. CatreM, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106
vara") have moved for summary judgment S.Ct. 2548, 2552, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986);
pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the Federal Rules Anderson v. Liberty LoM% /ma, 477 U.S.
of Civil Procedure. For the reasons stated 242,247, 106 S.Ct. 2505,2509,91 L.Ed.2d 202
(1986); Lany v.
LtM'ny pMMisAbelow, the motion is denied.
Co., 949 F.2d 576, 580 (2d Cir.1991).
Summary judgment "is appropriate only 'afBACKGROUND
Plaintiff Ortiz is a resident of Massachu- ter adequate time for discovery and upon
setts who was visiting New York City on motion, against a party who fails to make a
September 6, 1988, the day of the accident. showing sufficient to establish the existence
an element essentia) to that party's case,
Defendant David E. Rosner ("Rosner") is a of
on which that party wilt bear the burden
resident of New Jersey who, at the time of and
of proof at trial.'" f)torniott v. Syracwe
the accident, was an employee of defendant Savings
BanA, 961 F.2d 1042, 1046 (2d Cir.
Filter Cab Corporation ("Filter Cab"), a New 1992) (quoting
CeA%ea; 477 U.S. at 322, 106
York Corporation. At the time of the acci- S.Ct.
at 2552).
dent, plaintiff Ortiz was a passenger in her
own vehicle which was being driven by a "In deciding whether to grant summary
third party, Joan Straussman. Defendant judgment ail inferences drawn from the maRosner was driving a medaltion taxi owned terials submitted to the trial court are viewed

